2007

Jule Kreyling v. City of St. George, a Utah municipal corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Fifth Judicial District Court, Judge James L. Shumate, entered its Summary Judgment in this matter on or about October 5, 2007. Plaintiff-Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal on or about October 19, 2007. The Utah Supreme Court transferred this matter to this Court on or about November 1, 2007. Therefore, the Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this Appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(j).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

FIRST ISSUE PRESENTED

I. UNDER UTAH LAW, MAY A CITY DELEGATE ITS DUTIES TO MAINTAIN ITS PROPERTY, BEING A PARK STRIP, ALONG ITS CITY STREETS, TO ADJOINING PROPERTY OWNERS BY CITY ORDINANCE?

Standard of Review

This issue presents a question of law. The trial court's conclusions of law should be reviewed by this Court de novo. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994). Further, to insure that a court acted within its discretion, the facts and reasons for the court's decisions must fully set forth in appropriate findings and conclusions. Barnes v. Barnes, 857 P.2d 257 (Utah App. 1993). Findings must be sufficiently detailed to ensure that the trial court's discretionary determination was rationally based. Id. A trial court's decision on summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. Gary Porter Construction v. Fox Construction, Inc., 101 P.3d 371, 379 (Utah App. 2004).

Preservation of this Issue

Plaintiff-Appellant preserved this issue below by filing his Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 381).

SECOND ISSUE PRESENTED

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN ENTERING SUMMARY JUDGMENT CONCLUDING THAT THE DANGEROUS CONDITION UPON PROPERTY IN QUESTION WAS A "LATENT DEFECT" ENTITLING DEFENDANT CITY TO GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY FROM PROSECUTION?

Standard of Review

This issue presents a question of law. The court should review the trial court's conclusions of law de novo. State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932 (Utah 1994). The trial court's decision on summary judgment is reviewed for correctness. Gary Porter Construction v. Fox Construction, Inc., 101 P.3d 371, 379 (Utah App. 2004).

Preservation of this Issue

Plaintiff-Appellant preserved this issue below by filing his Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 381).

THIRD ISSUE PRESENTED

III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT THERE EXISTED NO GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT WITH REGARD TO A DANGEROUS CONDITION UPON PROPERTY DETERMINED TO BE A "LATENT DEFECT?"

Standard of Review

Generally, summary judgment can be granted when no genuine issue of material fact exists and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Stevenson v. First Colony Life Insurance Company, 827 P.2d 973, 974 (Utah App. 1992). The

court reviews conclusions of law pursuant to summary judgment for correctness without according deference to the trial court's legal conclusions. Id.

Preservation of this Issue

Plaintiff-Appellant preserved this issue below by filing his Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. at 381).

**DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS,
STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND RULES**

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 56, reads as follows:

(a) For claimant. A party seeking to recover upon a claim, counterclaim or cross-claim or to obtain a declaratory judgment may, at any time after the expiration of 20 days from the commencement of the action or after service of a motion for summary judgment by the adverse party, move for summary judgment upon all or any part thereof.

(b) For defending party. A party against whom a claim, counterclaim, or cross-claim is asserted or a declaratory judgment is sought, may, at any time, move for summary judgment as to all or any part thereof.

(c) Motion and proceedings thereon. The motion, memoranda and affidavits shall be in accordance with Rule 7. The judgment sought shall be rendered if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. A summary judgment, interlocutory in character, may be rendered on the issue of liability alone although there is a genuine issue as to the amount of damages.

(d) Case not fully adjudicated on motion. If on motion under this rule judgment is not rendered upon the whole case or for all the relief asked and a trial is necessary, the court at the hearing of the motion, by examining the pleadings and the evidence before it and by interrogating counsel, shall if practicable ascertain what material facts exist without substantial controversy and what material facts are actually and in good faith controverted. It shall thereupon make an order specifying the facts that appear without substantial controversy, including the extent to which the amount of damages or other relief is not in controversy, and directing such further proceedings in the action as are just. Upon the trial of the action the facts so specified shall be deemed established, and the trial shall be conducted accordingly.

(e) Form of affidavits; further testimony; defense required. Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith. The court may permit affidavits to be supplemented or opposed by depositions, answers to interrogatories, or further affidavits. When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of the pleadings, but the response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. Summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against a party failing to file such a response.

(f) When affidavits are unavailable. Should it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that the party cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify the party's opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such other order as is just.

(g) Affidavits made in bad faith. If any of the affidavits presented pursuant to this rule are presented in bad faith or solely for the purpose of delay, the court shall forthwith order the party presenting them to pay to the other party the amount of the reasonable expenses which the filing of the affidavits caused, including reasonable attorney's fees, and any offending party or attorney may be adjudged guilty of contempt.

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 7, reads as follows:

(a) Pleadings. There shall be a complaint and an answer; a reply to a counterclaim; an answer to a cross claim, if the answer contains a cross claim; a third party complaint, if a person who was not an original party is summoned under the provisions of Rule 14; and a third party answer, if a third party complaint is served. No other pleading shall be allowed, except that the court may order a reply to an answer or a third party answer.

(b)(1) Motions. An application to the court for an order shall be by motion which, unless made during a hearing or trial or in proceedings before a court commissioner, shall be made in accordance with this rule. A motion shall be in writing and state succinctly and with particularity the relief sought and the grounds for the relief sought.

(b)(2) Limit on order to show cause. An application to the court for an order to show cause shall be made only for enforcement of an existing order or for

sanctions for violating an existing order. An application for an order to show cause must be supported by an affidavit sufficient to show cause to believe a party has violated a court order.

(c) Memoranda.

(c)(1) Memoranda required, exceptions, filing times. All motions, except uncontested or ex parte motions, shall be accompanied by a supporting memorandum. Within ten days after service of the motion and supporting memorandum, a party opposing the motion shall file a memorandum in opposition. Within five days after service of the memorandum in opposition, the moving party may file a reply memorandum, which shall be limited to rebuttal of matters raised in the memorandum in opposition. No other memoranda will be considered without leave of court. A party may attach a proposed order to its initial memorandum.

(c)(2) Length. Initial memoranda shall not exceed 10 pages of argument without leave of the court. Reply memoranda shall not exceed 5 pages of argument without leave of the court. The court may permit a party to file an over-length memorandum upon ex parte application and a showing of good cause.

(c)(3) Content.

(c)(3)(A) A memorandum supporting a motion for summary judgment shall contain a statement of material facts as to which the moving party contends no genuine issue exists. Each fact shall be separately stated and numbered and supported by citation to relevant materials, such as affidavits or discovery materials. Each fact set forth in the moving party's memorandum is deemed admitted for the purpose of summary judgment unless controverted by the responding party.

(c)(3)(B) A memorandum opposing a motion for summary judgment shall contain a verbatim restatement of each of the moving party's facts that is controverted, and may contain a separate statement of additional facts in dispute. For each of the moving party's facts that is controverted, the opposing party shall provide an explanation of the grounds for any dispute, supported by citation to relevant materials, such as affidavits or discovery materials. For any additional facts set forth in the opposing memorandum, each fact shall be separately stated and numbered and supported by citation to supporting materials, such as affidavits or discovery materials.

(c)(3)(C) A memorandum with more than 10 pages of argument shall contain a table of contents and a table of authorities with page references.

(c)(3)(D) A party may attach as exhibits to a memorandum relevant portions of documents cited in the memorandum, such as affidavits or discovery materials.

(d) Request to submit for decision. When briefing is complete, either party may file a "Request to Submit for Decision." The request to submit for decision shall state the date on which the motion was served, the date the opposing memorandum, if any, was served, the date the reply memorandum, if any, was served, and whether a hearing has been requested. If no party files a request, the motion will not be submitted for decision.

(e) Hearings. The court may hold a hearing on any motion. A party may request a hearing in the motion, in a memorandum or in the request to submit for decision. A request for hearing shall be separately identified in the caption of the document containing the request. The court shall grant a request for a hearing on a motion under Rule 56 or a motion that would dispose of the action or any claim or defense in the action unless the court finds that the motion or opposition to the motion is frivolous or the issue has been authoritatively decided.

(f) Orders.

(f)(1) An order includes every direction of the court, including a minute order entered in writing, not included in a judgment. An order for the payment of money may be enforced in the same manner as if it were a judgment. Except as otherwise provided by these rules, any order made without notice to the adverse party may be vacated or modified by the judge who made it with or without notice. Orders shall state whether they are entered upon trial, stipulation, motion or the court's initiative.

(f)(2) Unless the court approves the proposed order submitted with an initial memorandum, or unless otherwise directed by the court, the prevailing party shall, within fifteen days after the court's decision, serve upon the other parties a proposed order in conformity with the court's decision. Objections to the proposed order shall be filed within five days after service. The party preparing the order shall file the proposed order upon being served with an objection or upon expiration of the time to object.

(f)(3) Unless otherwise directed by the court, all orders shall be prepared as separate documents and shall not incorporate any matter by reference.

(g) Objection to court commissioner's recommendation. A recommendation of a court commissioner is the order of the court until modified by the court. A party may object to the recommendation by filing an objection in the same manner as filing a motion within ten days after the recommendation is made in open court or, if the court commissioner takes the matter under advisement, ten days after the

minute entry of the recommendation is served. A party may respond to the objection in the same manner as responding to a motion.

St. George City Code § 4-7-11 reads as follows:

LANDSCAPING AND EXTERIOR MAINTENANCE:

Property owner shall maintain the landscaping and exterior features of the property in good repair, including maintaining:

A.Paint, siding, stucco, etc., in good repair free from peeling, large holes or cracks;

B.Landscaping of all areas visible from a public street, alley, sidewalk, or neighboring property, including rear and side yards;

C.Landscaping free from weeds, dead plants, litter, refuse, or debris and adequate water provided for landscape maintenance;

D.Lawns mowed and maintained;

E.Sprinkler systems maintained in good repair or, if no inground sprinkling system is installed, provide garden hoses and sprinklers sufficient for maintaining the yard;

F.Landscaping maintained as approved on a site plan submitted when the rental dwelling units were approved by the city (for those projects where a site plan was required or submitted) unless a subsequent landscaping plan was approved by the community development director in writing;

G.Curbs and gutters clean and in good repair;

H.Sidewalks, driveways and walkways in good repair free from large holes, cracks or other unsafe conditions;

I.Fences in good repair, free from graffiti, peeling paint, holes, and able to stand upright as designed without propping or additional support;

J.Carport areas (where applicable) clean and free from boxes, junk, debris, or other storage.

Property owner may contract with a third party, including tenant, to provide the maintenance required under this section, however property owner shall remain

liable for any deficiencies or violations of this section. (Ord. 2005-12-002, 12-1-2005, eff. 3-1-2006)

St. George City Code § 4-7-2 reads as follows:

DEFINITIONS:

LANDSCAPING: The combination of elements such as trees, shrubs, ground covers, vines, and other plants that are generally not considered to be weeds or noxious plants, and nonorganic matter such as decorative rock, that is planted or placed on the areas outside of the rental dwelling unit for the purpose of creating an attractive and pleasing environment. All landscaping shall meet the requirements of any applicable city code.

OWNER OCCUPIED: A. A natural person who possesses fifty percent (50%) ownership or more in the dwelling and said dwelling is the primary residence of such person; or

B. A family trust created for the primary purpose of estate planning by one or more trustors who create the trust, place the dwelling in such trust, and whose primary residence is such dwelling.

PERSON: Unless the context otherwise requires, the term "person" means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock company, a business trust or any unincorporated organization.

PROPERTY OWNER: An individual, a corporation, a partnership, an association, a joint stock company, a business trust or any unincorporated organization that is the owner of a rental dwelling unit or has a financial interest in the rental dwelling unit.

RENTAL DWELLING UNIT: A building or portion of a building that is:

A. Used or designated for use as a residence by one or more persons; and

B. 1. Available to be rented, loaned, leased, or hired out for a period of thirty (30) days or longer; or

2. Arranged, designed, or built to be rented, loaned, leased, or hired out for a period of one month or longer.

RENTAL PROPERTY: Any legally subdivided lot or parcel of property containing one or more rental dwelling units.

TENANT: Any natural person and any individual other than a commercial tenant that signs a rental agreement or is otherwise responsible for payment of rent for the unit.

UNIT: A rental dwelling unit. (Ord. 2005-12-002, 12-1-2005, eff. 3-1-2006)

St. George City Code § 7-1-7 reads as follows:

OBSTRUCTIONS:

A. Sidewalks And Streets: It shall be unlawful for any person, without a permit issued by the public works encroachment officer, to cause an encroachment or obstruction upon any street, alley or sidewalk of the city, which shall hinder the free travel of pedestrians, automobiles or other traffic along the streets or sidewalks, or which shall obstruct the view³¹ along the same. (1962 Code § 9-1-11; amd. 2003 Code)

B. Ditch Or Gutter: It shall be unlawful for any person to make or place any obstruction of any kind or nature in or over any irrigation ditch, wastewater ditch, or in any gutter situated upon any street or sidewalk within the city. Placing or allowing the accumulation of leaves, construction materials, garbage or debris of any type in gutters along city streets shall be considered an obstruction within the intent of this subsection. The adjoining property owners shall be responsible for keeping gutters free from such obstruction. No bridge, flume or conduit of any kind shall be placed or installed in or upon any ditch, canal or gutter, without permission from the streets superintendent being first obtained, and every such structure shall be installed in accordance with the instructions of and to the satisfaction of the streets superintendent. Any obstruction or installation made in violation of the provisions of this subsection, may be immediately removed by the streets superintendent, and any person who violates the provisions of this subsection shall be deemed guilty of a class B misdemeanor and upon conviction, subject to penalty as provided in section 1-4-1 of this code. (Ord. 12-6-1988, 12-15-1988; amd. 2003 Code)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Plaintiff-Appellant Jule Kreyling (“Mr. Kreyling”) respectfully requests that this Court reverse the summary judgment granted in favor of Defendant City of St. George (“City”) in his claims of personal injury. Mr. Kreyling’s claims stem from an incident

occurring in approximately September, 2003, wherein Mr. Kreyling was present upon a park strip, in between the sidewalk and curb of the street, owned by Defendant City, wherein he stepped with one leg into a cylindrical hole, falling in the entire length of his leg, causing back injury.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition of Court Below

Mr. Kreyling filed his Complaint on or about July 8, 2005, against Defendants St. George City, Washington County, and Watts Construction, Inc. (R. at 1) Plaintiff subsequently settled its claims against Washington County and Defendant Watts Construction. (R. at 605).

Defendant St. George City filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on or about April 13, 2007. (R. at 270). In its Motion for Summary Judgment, City of St. George maintained that (1) Plaintiff's claims were barred by governmental immunity because Plaintiff's injuries arose from a "latent defect" located upon the park strip, (2) the adjoining land owners had some obligation to maintain the park strip area pursuant to St. George City Code, (3) and that Plaintiff may not maintain his personal injury action against a governmental entity because Defendant owed Plaintiff no special duty of care. Id. Mr. Kreyling opposed Defendant's motion for summary judgment, arguing that (1) Defendant's duty to maintain its property was non-delegable despite city ordinance, (2) a determination of "latent defect" required a finding of reasonableness best left as a question by the finder of fact, (3) Defendant City had a special duty to use reasonable care to prevent Mr. Kreyling's injury, and (4) there exists genuine issues of material fact. (R. at 381).

On October 5, 2007, the trial court signed a two-page Order granting Defendant St. George City's motion for summary wherein the court simply rules that "there is no probative evidence that the City of St. George created the defect or condition in the park strip, or knew or should have known any defect or condition." (R. at 615). Mr. Kreyling timely filed his Notice of Appeal and the Utah Supreme Court transferred this case to this court, wherein he seeks relief from the judgment of the district court below. (R. at 618).

C. Statement of Facts

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