2007

Jule Kreyling v. City of St. George : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

distinct rules is that it is reasonable to presume a party has notice of a condition the party itself creates, but it is not reasonable to presume notice of a condition someone else creates. *Id.*

In this case, there is no evidence the City was responsible for *creating* a defective condition or hole that caused Kreyling to fall or step into it. Kreyling argued at summary judgment that the photographs taken by him confirm that “a half circle [was] cut out of the driveway that went around something that once was there that became a hole.” R.649, 505, 305; Transcript of Hearing at 17:19-20, Appellee’s Addendum “A”; and photograph of plaintiff and excavation at Appellee’s Addendum “C.” In his Brief, Kreyling argues that the semi-circle was present when the driveway was poured. Appellant’s Brief at 18. However, he has presented no evidence of even when the private driveway was poured, what the object might have been, when it was placed, when it was removed or by whom, or whether the defect in the concrete is related in any way to a hole. Indeed, Kreyling has presented no one to confirm the cause of his fall, or the presence of the hole he describes.

The evidence shows the County purchased the homes in this area and utilized them for various activities prior to tearing them down. R.520-21, 562-64; Coulter Deposition at 49, 51, 52, Photographs of pre-existing homes WC005, 008-9, Appellee’s Addendum “C.” Sometime in late 2002 or early 2003, the County tore the houses down, removing one of the driveways all the way to the curb. R.335, 312-15, 318, 338, 515, 517, 520 561-64; *Id.* at 26:17-20, 37:3-6, 57:4-14; Photographs of pre-existing homes and excavation by County, Appellee’s Addendum “C.” The County removed all shrubbery and fencing. *Id.* Gerald Newton, a volunteer at the Center, testified that the County had been “digging” in the park

strip, “they had done something to take the dirt out.” R.494 (Newton Deposition at 18:9-21). Further, Nolan Gardner, the City Water District Superintendent averred that neither the County nor Watts Construction ever notified the City that they would be excavating in the park strip. R.363. He also averred that the City did not dig in the park strip. R.364. Dennis Jorgensen, the City Power Systems Operations Manager, averred that no power poles had been moved or removed from the location identified by Kreyling and the pole located in the park strip where Kreyling fell was installed in 1985 and has not be removed since that time. R.349.

The U.S. Supreme Court stated in *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*:

[T]here is no issue for trial unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the nonmoving party for a jury to return a verdict for that party. If the evidence is merely colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary judgment may be granted.

477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986).

Similarly, there is no evidence the City had “notice” of a defect. *Id.* “It is quite universally held that fault cannot be imputed to the landowner so that liability results therefrom unless two conditions are met: (A) that he had knowledge of the condition, that is, either actual knowledge, or constructive knowledge because the condition had existed long enough that he should have discovered it; and (B) that after such knowledge, sufficient time elapsed that in the exercise of reasonable care he should have remedied it.” *Goebel*, 104 P.3d at 1195. Evidence of notice and a reasonable time to remedy are required to survive a motion for summary judgment or a directed verdict. *Id.*

Kreyling argues that, because there is a semi-circle in the driveway, the City must

have had notice of a hole. Appellant's Brief at 18. However, in order for a jury to reach the conclusion that a hole had existed in the park strip since the driveway was poured, it would also have to speculate regarding when the driveway was poured, what it contained, when and who removed the "whatever" that was in the hole and finally, that when the County excavated in the park strip to remove the second driveway, it didn't disturb the soil around the alleged hole. However, the appellate courts have repeatedly affirmed that where "jurors would have to engage in rank speculation to reach a verdict, summary judgment is proper." *Triesault v. Greater Salt Lake Business Dist.*, 126 P.3d 781, 785 (Utah Ct. App. 2005) (citation and quotations omitted).

The parties conducted exhaustive discovery. Summary judgment was filed only after discovery was closed. There is absolutely no evidence the City had any knowledge that a hole existed, much less evidence of when the hole was created. The County used and excavated the property without notifying the City of its activities. Coulter testified the County did not apply for either an encroachment permit or a number. The evidence shows that Watts Construction never applied for an encroachment permit. The evidence shows the County failed to barricade the area even *during* excavation of the park strip. Moreover, the evidence makes clear Kreyling was aware of the construction activities in the area. R.481 (Kreyling Deposition at 38:9-11, 38-39:17-12, Appellant's Addendum "A"). Kreyling testified that he did not want his wife to walk on the dirt because she was having trouble with her legs R.476-77, 481 (*Id.* at 21:21-25, 23:18-23, 41:1,), and he knew there was alternative parking with handicap access in the lot. R.477 (*Id.* at 22). Yet he elected to encounter the potential hazard because he had parked there dozens of times in the past and had "never

noticed” the hole. R.481 (*Id.* at 39:7). There is no evidence to support Kreyling’s hypothesis.

In *Goebel*, the plaintiff alleged that the defendant railroad was responsible for his bicycle accident because it failed to inspect and discover a “gap” at the crossing near the rail. The evidence showed that the area had been inspected, but more importantly, the court noted the plaintiff had used the crossing numerous times before the accident and the court found he should have been attuned to potential bicycle safety issues and had failed to notice the gap himself. *Goebel*, 104 P.3d at 1194. Similarly, in *Maloney v. Salt Lake City*, the plaintiff alleged Salt Lake City had failed to inspect and maintain a sidewalk that collapsed while he was on it. *Maloney*, 262 P.2d 281, 282 (Utah 1953). The court affirmed a directed verdict in favor of the city, emphasizing that the plaintiff was unable to show that the sidewalk was in a defective condition before it collapsed, even though he himself had used the sidewalk many times prior to the accident. *Id.* In this case, not only did Kreyling testify that he had parked in the same place and never noticed a hole, but employees and volunteers testified that they saw no defect or hole in the park strip prior to Kreyling’s fall. In this case, Kreyling failed as a matter of law to present sufficient, probative evidence the City had constructive notice of a defect. Even assuming, for the sake of argument, that the City had notice of the defect, Kreyling still “must present evidence of the length of time the defendant had notice.” *Goebel*, 104 P.3d at 1194. Kreyling argues that the jury should be allowed to speculate about the semi-circle in the concrete. However, there is no evidence the “semi-circle” in the driveway was associated in any way with a defect in the park strip. Such speculation falls short of creating a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to survive summary judgment.

Gildea v. Guardian Title Co. of Utah, 970 P.2d 1265, 1270 (Utah,1998); *Triesault v. Greater Salt Lake Business Dist.*, 126 P.3d 781, 785 (Utah Ct. App. 2005), *Clark v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 893 P.2d 598, 600-01 (Utah Ct.App.1995) (quotations omitted). A plaintiff may not rely on inference as to whether the defendant had notice of a defect and adequate time to remedy the situation, he must present specific probative evidence of the defect, that it caused the injury and the length of time it was present. *Fishbaugh v. UP&L*, 969 P.2d 403, 408 (Utah 1998). The plaintiff's mere hypothesis that a defect may have existed for some unknown length of time does not suffice and summary judgment is appropriate. *Id.*, *Goebel*, 104 P.3d at 1194.

B. The City Had No Duty to Kreyling Under the “Special Use” Doctrine.

All changes and excavation in the area were undertaken or caused by the abutting landowner, Washington County. However, ordinarily liability will not be imposed on the owner of property abutting an unsafe street or sidewalk, but such liability may be imposed under the “special use” doctrine. *Rose v. Provo City*, 67 P.3d 1017, 1021 (Utah Ct. App. 2003).

Kreyling testified that the driveway ramps were intended for use by the senior citizens visiting the County owned Senior Center. R. 476-81; Appellant's Addendum A: Kreyling Deposition at 18:19-25, 19:1-2, 20, 21:18-20, 23:15-23, 25:16-20, 26:1-2, 27:21, 32:7-9, 36:10, 39:4-23. He testified that there were one or two of these walkways bridging the gutter and he would always try to park near one when he visited the Center with his wife. R.346, and photographs of site at Appellee's Addendum “C.” County employees testified that they knew the patrons were parking on the street near the construction even though parking was

available in the lot. R.494 (Newton Deposition at 20-22), R.479, 477. It is apparent the driveway ramps were being used for a “special” or unintended purpose, despite alternative available parking.

Kreyling argues the “special use” doctrine does not diminish the City’s duty to prevent his fall, or discover the hole next to the driveway in the park strip. Appellant’s Brief at 14. However, this argument is only partially accurate. Under the “special use” doctrine, liability for maintaining the park strip may be transferred to the abutting landowner if he makes special use of the area. *Rose v. Provo City*, 67 P.3d 1017, 1021 (Utah Ct. App. 2003).

In *Rose*, the restaurant landowner abutting a public sidewalk and road made use of an asphalted planter box as a driveway. *Id.* The plaintiff bicyclist was injured when he rode into a ditch at the end of what appeared to be a driveway extending into the street. The Court found there was sufficient evidence to find the city negligent for *creating* the hazard when it excavated the ditch that it knew was being used by the landowner as a driveway. *Id.*

Plaintiff argues the city in *Rose* was not relieved of liability due to the negligence of the property owner. However, this does not accurately reflect the factual and legal findings in that case. First, the court found the city was responsible for *creating* the hazard. The evidence established that the city tore up the park strip on two occasions to expose and replace a pipe in the ditch and then left the ditch exposed; thus creating the dangerous condition in the public way. The property owner had been using the park strip as a driveway and had photographs “accurately representing the area from 1989 to the date of Rose’s accident in 1995, including the period during which the city twice removed the pipe” and exposed the ditch. *Id.* at 1024. The property owner testified that he called the city and told

them about the hazard and his use of the asphalted park strip as a driveway. Thus, due to the evidence produced by the plaintiff, the court found there was a genuine issue as to whether the city knew or should have known of the hazard it had created. *See Goebel*, 104 P.3d at 1995.

In this case, there is no evidence the City created any hazard. On the contrary the evidence supports the fact that the Senior Center invited its patrons to use the driveway “ramp” to access the Center and there is no evidence the City was ever advised of this use; the evidence also confirms that the County never advised the City of any construction or “digging” in the park strip to remove or alter the driveways, nor is there evidence the City should have been aware of the excavation in the park strip. R.326, 493-95, Newton Deposition at 15, 20-22; R.310, 320, 513-14, 526, Coulter Deposition at 19, 20-21, 25, 62-65. Witness testimony confirms that persons who frequented the area on a daily basis saw no defect, no hole, “nothing out of the ordinary” prior to Kreyling’s fall. *Id.*; R.511-12 (Coulter Deposition at 11-12:12-9, 13:15-20, 14:1-8, 17:5-11; R.492, 494, Newton Deposition at 12-13:21-2, 18:9-21; R.354, 357, 550, 554, DeMille Deposition at 16-17, 32:17-20. The evidence also establishes that the County used the property for law enforcement exercises, inserted and removed poles, fences and shrubbery from the area. R.562, Appellee’s Addendum “C,” Photographs. Finally, the evidence shows the County failed to erect any barricades to protect the public from the construction and/or excavation. *See* St. George City Code § 7-1-3 (encroachment permit required to erect or repair any building abutting public property); St. George City Code § 7-1-12 (permit required to excavate or construct a sidewalk, or alter a sidewalk); St. George City Code § 7-2-1 (permit required to excavate any

street, alley or public place); St. George City Code § 7-2-7 (barrier and warning devices are required for anyone cutting or making an excavation in or upon any public place for safety of the general public); St. George City Code § 7-2-8 (any work that includes damage or excavation of public property shall immediately restore the condition of the site); *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 10-8-84 confirming the municipal legislative power to adopt ordinances and rules and to enforce obedience.

The Supreme Court held in *Tripp v. Granite Holding Co.*, 450 P.2d 99, 100 (Utah 1969), that where an abutting landowner creates an unsafe or dangerous condition or situation on public property, he is obligated to maintain and correct the condition. As the district court noted, “there is no probative evidence that the City created the defect in the park strip, or knew or should have known of any defect.” R.616 (Order Granting Summary Judgment, pg. 2). “[This court is] satisfied, on the basis of this record that, as a matter of law, under these facts one cannot stretch liability to the City of St. George.” R.655 (Transcript of hearing at pg. 23:13-16).

C. Kreyling Knew of Alternative Available Parking Away from Construction

“It is well settled that a plaintiff, acting in a reasonably prudent manner, had a duty to foresee a danger, particularly one that is plainly visible and avoid it. *Deats v. Commercial Security Bank*, 746 P.2d 1191, 1194 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). Kreyling admits that he was aware of the construction of the new Senior Center. R. 477, 479, 481 (Kreyling Deposition at 22:17-25, 23:1-9, 38:24-25, 31-32, 39:1, 52:11-16, 57:24, 132:12-19). Indeed he testified that an unidentified construction worker assisted him to his feet. R.478, *Id.* at 28:6-11. He testified that he parked in the location because of the ramp and because, although he was

aware of the nearby construction activities, there was no fence or barricade where he parked. R.477, 479, 481, *Id.* at 22-23, 32, 41. He also knew that he had the option of parking in the Senior Center parking lot or even the nearby church parking lot with handicap access for his wife. R. 477, *Id.* at 22-23, 132. If a plaintiff fails to see, or sees but fails to avoid the danger, then the plaintiff acted negligently. *Id.*, see *Pollesche v. K-Mart Enterprises of Utah, Inc.*, 520 P.2d 200, 203 (Utah 1974); *Whitman v. W.T. Grant Co.*, 395 P.2d 918, 920 (Utah 1964) (plaintiff can be negligent either in failing to look or in failing to heed what he saw).

II. KREYLING’S CLAIM THAT THE CITY’S INADEQUATE OR FAILED INSPECTION OF A PRIVATE DRIVEWAY AND/OR THE COUNTY’S CONSTRUCTION PROJECT CAUSED HIS INJURY IS BARRED BY GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.

Under the Governmental Immunity Act in the fall of 2003, immunity was waived unless the injury arises out of, in connection with, or results from a latent dangerous or latent defective condition of any road, street, sidewalk, or other structure located on them. Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(16)(2001)¹. A “latent defect” is a defect which reasonably careful inspection will not reveal. *Vincent v. Salt Lake County*, 583 P.2d 105, 107 (Utah 1978). Injuries resulting from latent defects in a street not due to faulty municipal work, and which could not have been discovered by ordinary care and diligence, do not give a right of action against the municipal corporation in the absence of actual or constructive notice. *Id.* at 105. Kreyling argues that the City should have known about the hole, if it had inspected the private driveway when it was poured, or inspected the County’s construction project for compliance with the City’s building and safety ordinances.

However, Kreyling has presented no evidence to suggest that the “hole” of which he complains was even present prior to when he stepped on the site, or whether it was possible to

¹The Governmental Immunity Act version applicable at the time of Plaintiff’s accident.

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